
CHAS-37 mid-eighteenth century 
SOCIETY HILL (Frailty; Walnut Hill) 
Mt. Victoria 
Private 

Society Hill, which has had several major renovations in its 
200-plus year history, is one of Charles County's more interesting 
examples of eighteenth century architecture. The original, one­
story, five bay house with dormered roof was distinguished by a 
massive chimney of a design similar to those of Maxwell Hall (CHAS-
196), differing, however, in that it had an arched doorway in its 
base allowing access between the house and a semi-detached kitchen. 
In the early 19th century, the house was raised to two-storys and 
front and rear porches added in a manner similar with that which 
occurred at Deep Falls in St. Mary's County (STMA-71). At this 
time a second chimney was added to the south end to service the 
southwest first floor room which had been extended into the rear 
porch area. In the early 20th century, the original kitchen was 
replaced by a shed roofed addition at the south end of the house. 
At a later date the windows were altered by the insertion of a 
middle window between the two windows flanking each side of the 
east door, and doubling the end windows of the second floor level 
on both sides of the house. The interior, which has a center hall­
four room plan, retains some early features, including a fine 
Georgian-style mantel in the principal first floor room. Fragments 
of chairrail and other trim indicate that the interior of the house 
was once very handsomely finished. 

Society Hill stands on a 17th century land grant known as 
Frailty surveyed in 1664 for Captain Humphrey Warren. The oldest 
part of the house was probably built by Warren's grandson, Barton 
Warren, between 1730 and 1757. The house commands an impressive 
view of the entire Wicomico River from its situation on the crest 
of a hill. 
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DESCRIBE THE PRESENT AND ORIGINAL (IF KNOWN) PHYSICAL APPEARANCE 

Society Hill is approached by a gravel road approximately eight­
tenths of a mile in length between the Mt. Victoria Road entrance 
and the house. After passing through woodland and cultivated fields 
to the house the road continues through the farm to the Wicomico 
River. The house is impressively sited on the crest of a ridge and 
faces east-southeast, commanding a superb view of the lower Yatten 
lands, the Wicomico River and the St. Mary's County shoreline beyond. 
Except for a few largely unobtrusive newer structures, it is a view 
that has remained basically unchanged for over one hundred twenty­
five years. 

Although extensively renovated and altered by previous owners, Society 
Hill, originally the principal manor house on Frailty, a 17th century 
manor grant, is one of Charles County's most interesting and signifi­
cant examples of early eighteenth century architecture. 

The Society Hill of today is a two-story frame house with front and 
rear porches, exterior brick chimneys and a shed roofed kitchen wing 
at the southeast end. Its present exterior plan, except for such 
early features as two of the three chimneys, some first floor wine 
and sash, and beaded siding on the front and rear walls, is the 
culmination of two basic renovations; one dating from the early nine­
teenth century and the other from the middle of this century. Despite 
the extent of the renovations, there is sufficient physical evidence 
to establish its basic original appearance and trace its evolution 
to its present form. 

Believed to have been built circa 1700-1730, the house began as a 
one and one-half story structure with a steeply pitched dorrnered roof. 
The east front was five bays in width, having a centered entrance door 
with transome flanked by two windows on each side. The west side was 
evidently four bays wide, having two transomed doors, one occupying 
the first bay from the northwest end and the other a near central 
position, a window between them and a second window toward the south 
end. At each end of the house stood a single exterior chimney, the 
one at the south end being very broad at the base and rising in two 
graduated tiers to the attic gable where it continued up in the form 
of a wide, free-standing stack. A narrow arched doorway in the 
chimney base presumably led to a detached kitchen dependency. 

Society Hill was built over a full, brick walled cellar partitioned 
into several rooms. The larger east room, equipped with a commodious 
cooking fireplace, functioned as a winter kitchen. (The original 
summer kitchen, now destroyed, was housed in a separate building 
located not far from the south end of the house.) Three small win­
dows equally spaced the length of the side walls and fitted with ~ 
grilles provided light and ventilation. The cellar had two entrances, 

(continued on attached sheet) 
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Society Hill, which has had several major renovations in its 200-plus 
year history, is one of Charles County's more interesting examples 
of eighteenth century architecture. The original, one-story, five 
bay house with dormered roof was distinguished by a massive chimney 
of a design similar to those of Maxwell Hall (CHAS-196), differing, 
however, in that it had an arched doorway in its base allowing access 
between the house and a semi-detached kitchen. In the early 19th 
century, the house was raised to two-storys and front and rear porches 
added in a manner similar with that which occurred at Deep Falls in 
St. Mary's County (STMA-71). At this time a second chimney was added 
to the south end to service the southwest first floor room which had 
been extended into the rear porch area. In the early 20th century, 
the original kitchen was replaced by a shed roofed addition at the 
south end of the house. At a later date the windows were altered by 
the insertion of a middle window between the two windows flanking 
each side of the east door, and doubling the end windows of the second 
floor level on both sides of the house. The interior, which has a 
center hall-four room plan, retains some early features, including a 
fine Georgian-style mantel in the principal first floor room. Frag­
ments of chairrail and other trim indicate that the interior of the 
house was once very handsomely finished. 

Society Hill stands on a 17th century land grant known as Frailty 
surveyed in 1664 for Captain Humphrey Warren. The oldest part of 
the house was probably built by Warren's grandson, Barton Warren, 
between 1730 and 1757. The house commands an impressive view of the 
entire Wicomico River from its situation on the crest of a hill. 
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one beneath the main stair of the house (later relocated) and the 
other, an exterior entrance, positioned to the left of the fireplace 
in the east room. It is probable that the cellar floor was initially 
paved with brick, as appears to have been a standard treatment when 
cellars served a functional purpose other than that of storage. How­
ever, no evidence of this has been discovered. The existing floor is 
of packed dirt and gravel. 

It is possible that the existing center hall plan of Society Hill is 
original. However, the extensive later alterations could have in­
cluded a change in the initial room configuration. Since center hall 
plans were not widely used in the region at the time Society Hill is 
believed to have been built, it is not inconceivable that the original 
plan followed the then regionally popular arrangement of two large 
front rooms with two small rear rooms and a centered rear stair hall. 
This plan, prevalent from the end of the seventeenth century through 
to the third quarter of the eighteenth century, was often later 
altered to the center hall plan by installing a partition wall in the 
largest of the two front rooms. One of the best area examples of 
this conversion is River View (circa 1730; NR) in St. Mary's County. 
Of the existing rooms only the large "closet" enclosing the main stair 
is known to be unaltered. Although the stair itself was rebuilt fol­
lowing an apparent fire its configuration, consisting of broad, steeply 
winding steps, repeated that of its predecessor. A second stair of 
similar plan was located beneath the main stair but was later removed 
and relocated. An unusual and possibly original feature of the exist­
ing first floor plan is the small northwest room which is only access­
ible from the exterior and is believed to have initially served as 
the plantation office. There is a complete lack of information regard­
ing the original attic plan. Since this area was confined to the 
interior dimensions of the roof, it probably contained only two or 
three small bedrooms. The present second floor plan includes four 
bedrooms as well as a small room at the front of the stair hall that 
has been converted for use as a bathroom. Two of the bedrooms have 
fireplaces framed by late eighteenth-early nineteenth century mantels. 

Although much of the existing interior woodwork is of twentieth cen­
tury date and of an extremely plain design, there are several mantels 
that are considerably older. One, in the north first floor room (the 
present living room) has a crossetted surround below a high frieze 
decorated with reeded end blocks. Beneath the molded cornice shelf 
is a Greek fret. The mantel, stylistically dating from the second 
half of the eighteenth century, might have been installed during a 
pre-1800 renovation. It is very similar to the mantel in the princi­
pal room of Mt. Pleasant (circa 1790; CHAS-208) in the same county. 
The remaining mantels all appear to date after 1780, although only one, 
the mantel in the present dining room, has moldings of a distinctly 
eighteenth century type. Fragments of chairrail, found by a previous 
owner, relate stylistically to the mantel in the first floor north 
room. Of a three-piece design they have a face molding decorated with 
evenly spaced reeded squares. The artistic merit of the chairrail and 
mantel indicate that the interior of Society Hill was once very hand­
somely finished. 

(continued on attached sheet) 
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Precisely when the existing front and rear porches were constructed 
remains undetermined. It is possible that they are original since 
porches of this basic type are known to have been used in the region 
since the early eighteenth century. Discernable physical evidence 
suggests that the porches have been on the house at least since the 
early nineteenth century. 

The exterior of the house appears to have been initially sheathed 
with random width beaded boards. A substantial portion of this 
sheathing, hand planed and secured to the wall studs with wrought 
nails, survives below the porch roof of both side elevations. Of 
the four original or early windows that survive,all frame sash of 
nine-over-nine panes. However, the sash itself does not display the 
wide muntins characteristic of the early and mid-eighteenth century 
and were perhaps installed at a later date. These windows, as well 
as the door of the front elevation and the two doors and original 
window on the rear side, have two piece surrounds consisting of a 
beaded face board to which was applied a narrow outer molding. The 
outer molding is of a profile suggesting a late eighteenth or early 
nineteenth century date. 

In about 1825-40 the gable roof of the original house was removed and 
the house raised to a full two-story height. At or about this time 
the south first floor room was enlarged and extended into the porch 
area. Additional alterations included the apparent removal of much 
of the eighteenth century woodwork. A major alteration occurred to 
the southeast end, creating the odd combination of chimneys and doors 
so often pictured in publications on Maryland architecture. There 
is evidence to suggest that when the house was enlarged a former pent 
or fireplace at the west end of the original south end chimney was 
removed and a door inserted in its place. The opinion that the exist­
ing flat headed doorway is not contemporary with the construction date 
of the chimney is based on the presence of jagged broken brick sur­
rounding the opening. It was also about this time that a frame wing, 
connecting the house to the formerly detached kitchen, was constructed. 
It is thus reasonable to assume that the door was cut through the 
chimney to provide access to the wing. When the first floor south 
room was extended into the porch, a second chimney was built against 
the west side of the existing south end chimney. The determination 
that the two chimneys were constructed at different times is based 
on differences in masonry and design. The elongated stepped weather­
ing (shoulder) on the west side of the southwest chimney, for instance, 
is a distinctly late eighteenth and early nineteenth century design 
element. A peculiar feature of the same chimney is a recessed shelved 
area in its back wall--Yatten has a very similar chimney on the east 
end of the circa 1840 main block--whose original purpose or function 
remains undetermined. It is possible that the shelved area was 
originally a fireplace serving the nineteenth century wing that stood 
here and that it was later altered to its present form. Physical 
obstructions and layers of paint over the brick prevents a thorough 
analysis of this particular area. 

Little is known of the wing that stood between the house and the 
(continued on attached sheet) 
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kitchen, nor is anything known of the origin and physical appearance 
of the kitchen other than that it was a frame structure with an 
exterior brick chimney. Although evidence of the foundation of the 
wing and kitchen survived as late as the 1940's, little remains to­
day. Nevertheless, archeological excavations in the area would un­
doubtedly reveal the dimensions of the wing and kitchen and perhaps 
provide evidence as to their construction dates. 

It is believed that Society Hill retained its early nineteenth century 
appearance until the 1940's when it again experienced several altera­
tions. It was at this time that the two pairs of windows flanking 
the front (east) door were altered to their present triple unit design 
by the insertion of a third window between them having the same basic 
detail and sash. Additional windows were also installed across the 
second floor of both side elevations, creating three bays of two 
windows each. The west window of the west porch was also similarly 
enlarged. It was also about this time that a substantial portion of 
the interior woodwork was replaced, the main stair rebuilt and the 
cellar stair relocated. Most of the framing of the two porches was 
also replaced and a modest shed roofed kitchen built on the site of 
the former kitchen-service wing. 

There are no other pre-1900 structures remaining on Society Hill, 
although there are undoubtedly numerous archeological sites. In 
addition to the main house there is a tenant house located close to 
the entrance drive, several barns and sheds, and a small 1902 dwell­
ing near the river. 
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A charming two storey dwelling witn a fine view of the Wicomico 
Valley Society Hill possesse3 e shallow A freme roof and massive 
chimneys at its south end. A one storey porch runs the length 
of the east elevation front, while the Dorch runs only two third.S 

• \ - (J the length of the rear wall as the dining room projects out onto 
the porch . 

On the first level front the house has triple windovs one set 
to each side of the center door . All windows ~t this level are 
nine over nine sash. At the second floor level are .twee sets 
of double windows -~ 0ne at either end and a single window at the 
center. 
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]ii[i1£lc-1rie dr;;.§!:-1)1 or. Where the chimneys join is another door 
with a flat arch . One of these doors leads into what is called 
the•'dining room"(that room which projects onto the west porch) I 
and the other door leads into the southeast front room. It is 
known that there was ao .R~\s~T~ieta~hed) kitchen 1'rom the south 
end of the house which i:ii$.~rea-- sometime during the eerly 
years of this century. A photograph of these chimneys, minus the 
pr esent wing ~hich hides this unusual feature1 can be found in 
H. c. Formants '1Ea.rly Manor and Plantation Houses of Maryland. 11 

t-..a& hfi~• 
Most of the interior of Society Hill bet&'~ renovated .._._ .... ...., 

since the latter half of 'the nineteenth century-but enough re-
mains to tell of its former self . Two outstanding features 
are the two or iginal mantles of the northeast Greate Room and 
the smaller Goutheast room. There is a full cellar beneath . 
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